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DECISION AND ORDER 

This case is before the Agricultural Labor Relations Board (ALRB or 

Board) on exceptions filed by both respondent Fowler Packing Company, Inc. (Fowler) 

and the ALRB General Counsel.  The Board has delegated its authority in this 

proceeding to a three-member panel pursuant to Labor Code section 1146. 

The salient issue in this case is whether questions Fowler’s attorneys asked 

charging parties Beatriz Aldapa (Aldapa) and Elmer Avalos (Avalos) during depositions 

in a federal wage and hour class action lawsuit seeking the names of putative class 

members who attended a meeting with plaintiffs’ counsel in that litigation constitute an 

unfair labor practice in violation of section 1153, subdivision (a) of the Agricultural 
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Labor Relations Act (ALRA or Act).1  Principal Administrative Law Judge Mark R. 

Soble (ALJ) issued the attached decision concluding they did under the standard adopted 

by the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) in Guess?, Inc. (2003) 339 NLRB 432.  

The NLRB in that case prescribed a three-part test to determine whether an employer’s 

discovery inquiries in a proceeding between the employer and an employee is lawful: 

First, the questioning must be relevant. Second, if the 

questioning is relevant, it must not have an illegal objective. 

Third, if the questioning is relevant and does not have an 

illegal objective, the employer’s interest in obtaining this 

information must outweigh the employees’ confidentiality 

interests under Section 7 of the Act. 

 

(Id. at p. 434.)2  

The Board has considered the ALJ’s decision and the record in light of the 

parties’ exceptions.  As we shall explain, applying the standard set forth in Guess? we 

find on the record before us that there was insufficient evidence presented for us to 

conclude that the questions were unlawful.  Accordingly, we reverse the decision of the 

ALJ and dismiss the unfair labor practice complaint, without prejudice. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

The facts generally are not in dispute.  On March 17, 2015, Aldapa and 

Avalos filed a class action lawsuit against Fowler in the United States District Court for 

the Eastern District of California asserting claims under the Migrant and Seasonal 

Agricultural Worker Protection Act (29 U.S.C. § 1801 et seq.) and state wage and hour 

 
1 The ALRA is codified at Labor Code section 1140 et seq. 

2 See 29 U.S.C. § 157; Lab. Code, § 1152. 
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law.3  The case is Aldapa v. Fowler Packing Co., et al., E.D. Cal., Case No. 1:15-cv-

00420-DAD-SAB.  Aldapa and Avalos sought to represent a main class of individuals 

employed by Fowler at any time from March 17, 2011, to the present and 13 subclasses 

also composed of Fowler employees during that time period.  (Aldapa v. Fowler 

Packing Co. (E.D.Cal. 2018) 323 F.R.D. 316, 324-325.) 

Fowler’s attorneys took the depositions of Aldapa on August 10, 2015, and 

Avalos on August 11, 2015.  During Aldapa’s deposition it was revealed that Aldapa 

and Avalos met with their attorneys and putative class members on several occasions in 

March, May, and August.  One such meeting was held on August 8, 2015, at the United 

Farm Workers of America (UFW) Foundation office in Fresno, California.  Prior to the 

meeting, on or around July 29, 2015, a radio advertisement ran over La Campesina 

Network, stating: 

If you worked as an agricultural employee for Fowler Packing 

or Ag. Force LLC, between March 2011 to the present, and 

were not paid all salaries or had to buy your own tools, you 

may have a legal claim. 

 

The attorneys that represent Fowler Packing employees in a 

pending lawsuit against the company, will have a special 

meeting on Saturday August 8 at four in the afternoon at the 

offices of the United Farm Workers Foundation at 2409 

Merced Street in Fresno. The attorneys will be available to 
 

3 Aldapa and Avalos are represented in the federal class action by the law firms of 

Bush Gottlieb and Martinez, Aguilasocho & Lynch.  Martinez, Aguilasocho & Lynch 

also represent Aldapa and Avalos in this unfair labor practice proceeding.  The class 

action lawsuit also names as defendants Ag Force, LLC and Fowler Marketing 

International, LLC.  Ag Force is a farm labor contractor, and Fowler Marketing 

International markets and sells crops owned by Fowler.  For purposes of this decision, 

our focus is on Fowler, and we will refer solely to it in discussing the underlying federal 

litigation.  (See also Lab. Code, § 1140.4, subd. (c).) 
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answer questions about this lawsuit. If you think you have a 

claim against the company or would like to learn more, please 

attend this important meeting. 

 

This has been a message from the law offices of [Martinez, 

Aguilasocho & Lynch] and [Bush Gottlieb]. 

 

Again, the meeting is for Fowler Packing and Ag. Force LLC 

employees. If you’d like more information you can call (661) 

859-1173. 

 

This is a public service of Radio Campesina.4  

 

Aldapa testified that about 20 farm workers were present at the August 8, 

2015 meeting.  There was a sign-in sheet at the meeting which indicated individuals’ 

names and the company they worked for at any time between March 17, 2011, to the 

present.  Fowler’s counsel requested a copy of the sign-in sheet.  Aldapa’s counsel 

declined to produce it, and instructed Aldapa not to answer any questions about the 

names of individuals who attended the meeting on the basis of attorney-client privilege 

and “the privilege under both [National Labor Relations Act (NLRA)5] and ALRB law 

that the identity of workers that participate in meetings involving wage and hour cases is 

considered protected concerted activity and the identity of those participants is protected 

from discovery.”   

A similar exchange occurred during Avalos’ deposition.  Fowler’s counsel 

asked Avalos whose idea it was to hold the meetings at the UFW Foundation, and he 

 
4 This transcript of the radio advertisement is taken from a translation from 

Spanish prepared by a paralegal in the firm representing Fowler in this proceeding. 

5 The NLRA is codified at 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq. 
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answered it was both his and Aldapa’s decision.  When Fowler’s counsel asked whether 

anyone else was involved, Avalos’ counsel objected on grounds the question “and 

specifically naming names” was an unfair labor practice under the ALRA.  He also 

asserted a First Amendment associational right that would be violated by such questions.  

Avalos’ counsel instructed Avalos not to answer any questions regarding the names of 

individuals who met regarding the lawsuit, and the deposition proceeded on the basis the 

parties would meet and confer over the issue. 

Counsel thereafter met and conferred, and eventually submitted their 

discovery dispute to the magistrate judge.  The magistrate judge granted Fowler’s 

motion to compel answers to its deposition questions, finding the information was neither 

protected by the attorney-client privilege nor under the First Amendment.  (Aldapa v. 

Fowler Packing Co. (E.D. Cal. Mar. 18, 2016) 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 35522, *13-18, 

23-25.)  Regarding the specific issue whether the questioning was prohibited by the 

ALRA, the magistrate judge concluded it was not.  (Aldapa, supra, 2016 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 35522, *18-23.)  The magistrate judge rejected plaintiffs’ claim the information 

sought was privileged under Rule 501 of the Federal Rules of Evidence.  The magistrate 

judge further concluded Fowler’s questions were not unlawful under the standard adopted 

by the NLRB in Guess?, on which plaintiffs primarily relied. 

Aldapa and Avalos sought reconsideration of the magistrate judge’s order, 

which the district court judge granted in relevant part.  (Aldapa v. Fowler Packing Co. 

(E.D. Cal. June 16, 2016) 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78791.)  Regarding plaintiffs’ claim of 

protection from answering the questions under the ALRA, the district court judge found 
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the magistrate judge’s order “was neither clearly erroneous nor contrary to law,” and thus 

would not disturb it.  (Id. at *4.)  However, the district court judge proceeded to find 

the magistrate judge applied an incorrect standard in evaluating plaintiffs’ First 

Amendment association claims, and ultimately denied Fowler’s motion to compel 

answers to the deposition questions concerning the identities of workers who attended the 

meetings with plaintiffs’ counsel on First Amendment grounds at this pre-certification 

stage of proceedings.  (Id. at *13-23.)  The judge left open the possibility that Fowler’s 

questions may be permissible at a later stage of the proceedings (i.e., post-class 

certification).6 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

I. The Unfair Labor Practice Proceeding 

Aldapa and Avalos filed an unfair labor practice charge on February 26, 

2016, alleging Fowler violated the Act by insisting on obtaining the identities of workers 

“who attended and/or participated in meetings about a pending lawsuit” against Fowler.  

Almost two years later, on January 8, 2018, the General Counsel issued a complaint.  

The complaint states a single cause of action, asserting Fowler committed an unfair labor 

 
6   In an order dated January 24, 2018, the court granted plaintiffs’ motion for 

class certification in part and certified as class members various subclasses of individuals 

employed by Fowler at any time from March 17, 2011, to the present.  (Aldapa, supra, 

323 F.R.D. at p. 357.)  The “Inaccurate Wage Statement Subclass” was certified to 

cover individuals employed with Fowler at any time between March 17, 2012, to the 

present.  (Ibid.; see Aldapa v. Fowler Packing Co. (E.D. Cal. Feb. 16, 2018) 2018 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 25969, *3.)  The court further confirmed Aldapa and Avalos as class 

representatives for each of the certified subclasses.  (Aldapa, supra, 323 F.R.D. at pp. 

331-333.)  Additionally, the court confirmed plaintiffs’ attorneys as appropriate class 

counsel.  (Id. at p. 335.) 
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practice in violation of Labor Code section 1153, subdivision (a) by attempting to 

interrogate Aldapa and Avalos at their depositions about the names of employees who 

attended the August 8, 2015 meeting with plaintiffs’ counsel in the lawsuit and by 

requesting sign-in sheets from the meeting.  Fowler answered the complaint, and 

subsequently moved to dismiss it on grounds the ALRB had no authority to interfere with 

discovery in the federal court litigation.  The General Counsel and charging parties 

separately opposed the motion, and the ALJ issued an order denying it.  Pursuant to an 

April 10, 2018 order by the ALJ during a prehearing conference, all parties submitted 

briefing on the issue of Fowler’s defense the charge is time-barred under Labor Code 

section 1160.2. 

A one-day hearing was held on April 16, 2018.  The General Counsel and 

charging parties did not put on a case, instead choosing to rest on a stipulation of facts 

and exhibits.  Fowler’s counsel, Howard Sagaser, testified as the sole witness for 

Fowler.  All parties filed post-hearing briefs on May 25, 2018. 

II. The ALJ Decision 

The ALJ issued a decision on June 13, 2019.  Applying Guess?, the ALJ 

found Fowler’s deposition questions violated Labor Code section 1153, subdivision (a).  

The ALJ from there proceeded to reject Fowler’s additional defenses that (1) the General 

Counsel litigated this charge in retaliation for separate litigation filed by Fowler 

challenging the Board’s access regulation (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 20900) and 

Assembly Bill No. 1513 (see Fowler Packing Co. v. Lanier (9th Cir. 2016) 844 F.3d 

809); and (2) the charge was untimely filed.  Based on his finding Fowler committed an 
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unfair labor practice by interrogating its employees regarding protected concerted 

activities, the ALJ recommended standard cease and desist and notice remedies. 

Fowler filed 23 exceptions to the ALJ’s decision.  The General Counsel 

filed a single exception.7 

DISCUSSION 

I. The Charge Is Not Time-Barred. 

We reject Fowler’s defense the charge is barred by the six-month 

limitations period in Labor Code section 1160.2.  The depositions at which Fowler 

asked the allegedly unlawful questions occurred on August 10 and 11, 2015, and the 

charge was filed on February 26, 2016.  Fowler thus is correct the charge was not filed 

until more than six months after the depositions.  However, Fowler continued its efforts 

 
7 The General Counsel asserts the ALJ should not have addressed Fowler’s 

allegations that the General Counsel harbored an unlawful ulterior motive in prosecuting 

the charge, and the ALJ’s discussion on that issue should be stricken from the decision.  

The General Counsel cites Roger Foods, Inc. (1982) 8 ALRB No. 19, at ALJ Dec. p. 8 in 

support of its exception.  The ALJ in that case found a respondent’s allegations of bias 

against the General Counsel were inappropriately raised during the unfair labor practice 

proceeding, citing Brown Lumber Co. (1963) 143 NLRB 174.  However, a federal 

circuit court set aside and refused to enforce the NLRB’s decision in that case based on a 

finding the regional director acted arbitrarily and unreasonably — the same arguments 

the respondent made before the NLRB and which the NLRB rejected.  (NLRB v. Brown 

Lumber Co. (6th Cir. 1964) 336 F.2d 641.)  In light of the circuit court’s opinion setting 

aside that decision, we do not find it persuasive here.  ALJs have broad authority under 

Board regulation 20262 (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 20262), and the General Counsel 

concedes allegations of prosecutorial misconduct may be raised by a respondent during 

unfair labor practice proceedings.  The NLRB has not adopted a position refusing to 

consider a respondent’s allegations of bias or misconduct against its General Counsel; 

rather, it appears the NLRB’s ALJs typically address such claims.  (See Associated 

Builders and Contractors, Inc. (1997) 331 NLRB 132, 134-135.)  We do not believe the 

ALJ erred by addressing, and rejecting, Fowler’s allegations of bias and retaliation 

against the General Counsel. 
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to obtain answers to its deposition questions after the dates of the depositions, including 

throughout the meet and confer process with plaintiffs’ counsel and during a telephone 

conference on January 8, 2016 – less than two months before the charge was filed.  As 

the ALJ correctly noted, the unfair labor practice charge alleges a continuing violation 

that, “[o]n or about August 10 and 11, 2015, and continuing to date,” Fowler violated the 

ALRA “by insisting on discovering the identities of workers who attended and/or 

participated in meetings” regarding the federal class action lawsuit.  (Emphasis added; 

NLRB v. Epstein (3d Cir. 1953) 203 F.2d 482, 485 [“we think that the complaint in this 

case could have properly included the matters occurring subsequent to the filing of the 

charge, for the original charge was of a continuing violation and the subsequent acts were 

of the same class and were continuations of it and in pursuance of the same objects”]; 

NLRB v. Harris (5th Cir. 1953) 200 F.2d 656, 658.)8 

Accordingly, we find the charge is not time-barred under section 1160.2. 

II. The Charge Is Not Barred By Res Judicata or Collateral Estoppel. 

Fowler contends that res judicata and collateral estoppel principles bar the 

charging parties and General Counsel from litigating this unfair labor practice charge, 

asserting further the Board is required under such principles to follow the federal court’s 

 
8 We additionally note Fowler’s attempts to obtain answers to its deposition 

questions continued after the charge was filed, including when the discovery dispute was 

presented to the magistrate judge on March 2, 2016, and when Fowler opposed the 

plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration of the magistrate judge’s order on April 5, 2016.  

The Board appropriately may consider unfair labor practices occurring after a charge is 

filed so long as they relate to the allegations of the charge and arise from them.  (See 

Sam’s Club v. NLRB (4th Cir. 1999) 173 F.3d 233, 245; City Cab Co. v. NLRB (11th Cir. 

1986) 787 F.2d 1475, 1483.) 
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rulings.  Fowler’s arguments are premised on its claim the federal court, applying 

Guess?, already concluded the deposition questions did not violate the ALRA.  

According to Fowler, the charging parties thus are prohibited from litigating this charge.  

These arguments lack merit. 

This is not a case in which the doctrine of res judicata is applicable.  Res 

judicata, also known as claim preclusion, applies only to prevent the reassertion of causes 

of action in a subsequent lawsuit.  (DKN Holdings LLC v. Faerber (2015) 61 Cal.4th 

813, 824.)  “Claim preclusion arises if a second suit involves (1) the same cause of 

action (2) between the same parties (3) after a final judgment on the merits in the first 

suit.”  (Ibid.)  This case does not involve the reassertion of a cause of action 

determined in an earlier case, and thus res judicata is inapplicable.  In addition, this case 

does not involve the same parties, as the General Counsel is not a party to the federal 

lawsuit at issue in this case. 

Collateral estoppel also does not apply.  Also known as issue preclusion, 

collateral estoppel prevents the relitigation of issues determined in an earlier proceeding, 

even if raised in the context of different causes of action.  (DKN Holdings, supra, 61 

Cal.4th at p. 825.)  “[I]ssue preclusion applies (1) after final adjudication (2) of an 

identical issue (3) actually litigated and necessarily decided in the first suit and (4) 

asserted against one who was a party in the first suit or one in privity with that party.”  

(Ibid.)  Even assuming a discovery ruling can be determined to be entitled to preclusive 

effect in a subsequent action, there are several grounds for denying it here.   

Although the magistrate judge in the federal case analyzed the alleged 
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claim of privilege under the ALRA and applied the NLRB’s test from Guess?, courts 

have found a magistrate judge’s discovery rulings are not “final” for collateral estoppel 

purposes.  (See Stripling v. Jordan Production Co. (5th Cir. 2000) 234 F.3d 863, 868; 

Jewish War Veterans of the U.S.A., Inc. v. Gates (D.D.C. 2007) 506 F.Supp.2d 30, 41.)  

Thus, the magistrate judge’s decision is not entitled to any preclusive effect by itself.  

And while the plaintiffs in the federal case did seek reconsideration and the district court 

did enter what would be considered a final order for estoppel purposes, it is not clear the 

ALRA issue was “necessarily decided” by the district court.  The district court’s 

treatment of the ALRA issue, and determination not to disturb the magistrate judge’s 

handling of it, appears to be dicta only as the court found the deposition questions 

impermissible on separate grounds under the First Amendment.  (Jewish War Veterans, 

supra, 506 F.Supp.2d at pp. 40-41.)   

Finally, privity is lacking.  To be clear, a charging party does not litigate 

an unfair labor practice before the Board.  Rather, a charging party merely files a charge 

with the General Counsel, who in turn investigates and determines whether to prosecute 

it.  (Lab. Code, § 1149.)  In prosecuting a charge the General Counsel represents the 

public in vindicating public rights and interests, not the private rights or interests of 

individual charging parties.  (Montebello Rose Co. v. ALRB (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 1, 

22; NLRB v. Fortune Bay Resort Casino (D.Minn. 2010) 688 F.Supp.2d 858, 871 [“In a 

prosecution under the NLRA, the Board’s General Counsel is responsible for enforcing 

the public interest, not for enforcing the rights of private litigants”].)  The General 

Counsel is not a party to the federal lawsuit nor is it in privity with Aldapa and Avalos, 
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who are.  (Montebello Rose Co., supra, 119 Cal.App.3d at pp. 22-23.)  Therefore, 

Fowler’s attempt to assert collateral estoppel against the General Counsel lacks merit. 

III. Applying Guess?, Fowler’s Deposition Questions Were Not Unlawful. 

At the outset, we acknowledge the question presented in this case, i.e., 

whether an agricultural employer’s inquiries during discovery in another forum constitute 

an unfair labor practice under the ALRA, is a matter of first impression for this Board.  

Pursuant to Labor Code section 1148, we find Guess?, supra, 339 NLRB 432 provides 

the applicable framework for determining whether Fowler’s deposition questions were 

unlawful.  Our analysis under Guess? involves three parts: (1) was the deposition 

questioning relevant in the federal lawsuit; (2) if so, did Fowler have an illegal objective 

in asking the questions; and (3) if the questioning is relevant and not motivated by an 

illegal objective, does Fowler’s interest in obtaining the information outweigh any 

employee rights under Labor Code section 1152.  (Id. at p. 434.)  Applying this test, 

we conclude Fowler’s questions were not unlawful.9 

A. Was the Deposition Questioning Relevant?  

 

The scope of discovery in federal civil cases is “extremely broad,” and the 

measure of relevancy generally encompasses any matter that is relevant or could lead to 

other information relevant to any issue in the case.  (Youngblood v. Gates (C.D. Cal. 

 
9 Fowler argues the ALRB is prohibited from finding an unfair labor practice in 

this case on grounds “[t]he Supremacy [C]lause of the United States Constitution 

prevents the ALRB from superseding rulings from the federal court.”  (See U.S. Const., 

art. IV, cl. 2.)  We need not address this issue because we find Fowler’s deposition 

questions are not unlawful under Guess?. 
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1985) 112 F.R.D. 342, 344; Soto v. City of Concord (N.D. Cal. 1995) 162 F.R.D. 603, 

610 [“A relevant matter is ‘any matter that bears on, or that reasonably could lead to 

other matters that could bear on, any issue that is or may be in the case’”], quoting 

Oppenheimer Fund, Inc. v. Sanders (1978) 437 U.S. 340, 351; Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1).)  

Fowler asserts its questions were related to testing the foundation of the attorney-client 

privilege claim asserted by plaintiffs’ counsel, as well as a concern over joint witness 

preparation during the litigation.  While the materiality of such information to Fowler’s 

defense of the federal litigation may be debatable, we do not believe we are in a position 

to say the questions fall clearly outside the scope of permissible discovery.  (Maritz 

Communications Co. (1985) 274 NLRB 200, 201-202.)  In fact, the federal court in the 

underlying case determined the questions were relevant to the litigation.  (Aldapa, 

supra, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 35522, *22; Aldapa, supra, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 78791, 

*4.)  

B. Did Fowler Have an Illegal Objective?  

 

Neither the General Counsel nor charging parties assert Fowler’s questions 

were motivated by any illegal objective, nor does our review of the record suggest any.  

C. Balancing.  

 

Based on our findings that no evidence was presented that Fowler’s 

questions fell outside the permissible scope of discovery or were motivated by an illegal 

objective, we now must balance Fowler’s interest in obtaining the information it sought 

against any employee rights under Labor Code section 1152.  On the limited record 

before us, we find sufficient evidence was not presented to allow us to conclude that the 
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impact on section 1152 rights outweighed Fowler’s permissible interest in pursuing the 

discovery of relevant information in the federal litigation.   

In considering whether any infringement of the section 1152 rights of the 

workers in attendance at the August 8, 2015 meeting outweighs Fowler’s interest in 

pursuing answers to its deposition questions, we are limited by the lack of evidence 

concerning the employment status of those who attended the meeting.  Specifically, the 

record does not indicate whether the putative class members who attended the meeting 

were employed with Fowler at the time or at any time subsequent to the meeting.  In 

fact, the unfair labor practice complaint does not allege Aldapa was employed with 

Fowler during the relevant time period.  (See Lucas v. Gold Standard Baking, Inc. (N.D. 

Ill. Apr. 24, 2017) 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 61841, *8-9 [witnesses lacked confidentiality 

interests under Section 7 because they no longer were employed with the employer, were 

not seeking reemployment with the employer, and thus had no risk of retaliation].)   

The record also contains no evidence of any hostility by Fowler against any 

concerted activities by its employees, or that Fowler has retaliated or attempted to 

retaliate against any workers based on the pending class action, including the named class 

representatives.  The lack of evidence on these issues also works against finding a 

violation based upon the Guess? balancing test.  (Cf. Tower Industries Inc. (2007) 349 

NLRB 1077, 1083 [referring to employer’s demonstrated hostility toward union for 

context when applying Guess?].) 

We further find that the admitted absence of any union activity at the 

August 8, 2015 meeting weighs against finding the questions unlawful under Guess?.  
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To be clear, the scope of activity protected under section 1152 is broader than union 

activity and encompasses a wide range of concerted activities relating employee working 

conditions, even when no union-related conduct is involved.  (Amglo Kemlite 

Laboratories, Inc. (2014) 360 NLRB 319, 322 [the “right to engage in concerted activity 

for the purpose of mutual aid or protection is ‘afforded equally to nonunion employees 

and union employees’”], quoting NLRB v. McEver Engineering, Inc. (5th Cir. 1986) 784 

F.2d 634, 639; Koch Supplies, Inc. v. NLRB (8th Cir. 1980) 646 F.2d 1257, 1259 

[“concerted activities need not take place in a union setting ... It is sufficient that the 

employee intends or contemplates, as an end result, group activity which will also benefit 

some other employees”].) 

However, our review of NLRB cases applying the Guess? test reveals that 

the NLRB treats employers’ attempts to use litigation discovery to inquire into union 

activities as particularly indicative of unlawful conduct.  For example, in Guess? the 

employer questioned an employee during a workers’ compensation deposition about her 

activities at the union hall and the names of other employees who attended union 

meetings.  (Guess?, supra, 339 NLRB 432.)  In Century Restaurant & Buffet, Inc. 

(2012) 358 NLRB 143, 157, the employer asked during depositions in a federal wage and 

hour lawsuit whether the employees were union members.  In Dilling Mechanical 

Contractors, Inc. (2011) 357 NLRB 544, 545-546, the employer propounded discovery in 

a state court action seeking the names of employees who had joined the union.  In 

Tower Industries Inc., supra, 349 NLRB 1077, 1079-1083, the employer during a 

deposition in a state court lawsuit asked for the names of employees who attended union 
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meetings, what was discussed at union meetings, and whether there were discussions at 

the meetings relating to efforts to organize at the employer’s business.  In Wright 

Electric, Inc. (1999) 327 NLRB 1194, 1195, the employer propounded discovery in a 

state court action seeking copies of any authorization cards obtained by the union.10  In 

another case that did not involve separate litigation, but which we nevertheless find 

instructive here, an employer attempted to examine witnesses during an unfair labor 

practice hearing regarding the names of employees who attended union meetings or 

expressed views about the union during an organizing campaign.  The D.C. Circuit 

upheld the ALJ’s refusal to allow such questioning.  (Veritas Health Services, Inc. v. 

NLRB (D.C. Cir. 2012) 671 F.3d 1267, 1269.) 

The deposition questions at issue in this case do not resemble the types of 

inquiries into union activity found unlawful in the NLRA precedent described above.  

(See Lab. Code, § 1148.)  Fowler did not did not ask what was discussed at the August 

8, 2015 meeting; inquire as to any employees’ views concerning unions or unionization; 

seek to discover any individual’s support, affiliation, or membership in a union; or ask 

about any union activities, organizing, or campaigning or any other employee concerted 

activities at Fowler.  There is no evidence the litigation or any issues involved in the 

litigation are related or connected to any employee concerted activities at Fowler.  

 
10 Similarly, in a decision issued by a two-member NLRB that was subsequently 

abrogated, the NLRB found an employer’s deposition question in a federal class action 

how employees voted in a union election was unlawful.  (Chinese Daily News (2008) 

353 NLRB 613, 614-615, abrogated by New Process Steel, LP v. NLRB (2010) 560 U.S. 

674.) 
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Fowler states it did not believe the August 8, 2015 meeting involved any union activity.11  

Both the General Counsel and charging parties characterize the meeting as relating only 

to the litigation and not involving any union activity.  The UFW also disclaimed any 

union involvement in the federal litigation or the meeting at issue.  (See Aldapa, supra, 

2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 35522, *23 [“Plaintiffs’ counsel has stated that the meetings were 

only regarding this lawsuit, and did not involve any union activity”].) 

Thus, for the foregoing reasons, we are unable to conclude Fowler’s 

deposition questions were unlawful under the analysis prescribed by Guess?.  The 

deposition questions were relevant under the standards of federal discovery and there is 

no allegation of any unlawful motivation on Fowler’s part.  It is common — indeed, 

routine — during the course of litigation discovery for a defendant to ask a plaintiff for 

the names of other individuals or potential witnesses with whom they have discussed 

their lawsuit or claims.  In the context of employment litigation involving alleged wage 

and hour violations, such as the underlying litigation at issue here, these types of inquiries 

in some cases may require a plaintiff to identify other employees with whom he or she 

has spoken.  The legal theory and limited record on which the General Counsel 

prosecuted this matter would have us conclude an agricultural employer commits an 

unfair labor practice in such circumstances whenever it asks a plaintiff employee or 

former employee during discovery for the names of other employees with whom he or 

she has discussed their case or allegations.  We do not believe such an inquiry to 

 
11 We also note Fowler’s counsel requested the sign-in sheets on an “attorneys’ 

eyes only” basis, which would have prevented disclosure to Fowler itself. 
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constitute a per se violation of Labor Code section 1153, subdivision (a), and without a 

more developed record and factual context we cannot say Fowler’s inquiries here violated 

our Act.  (See Bloomfield Health Care Center (2008) 352 NLRB 252 [applying a 

totality of circumstances test for evaluating allegations an employer interrogation violates 

NLRA Section 8(a)(1)].)12 

IV. Dismissal of the Complaint Without Prejudice. 

While we find Fowler’s deposition inquiries were not unlawful on the 

record now before us, we make clear that our dismissal of the unfair labor practice 

complaint is without prejudice to the filing and processing of any new unfair labor 

practice charges in the event of any new or changed circumstances if Fowler were to re-

ask its questions during the course of the federal litigation, which we acknowledge 

remains pending.  In this respect, we note the federal court left open the possibility 

Fowler may re-ask its questions at a later stage in the litigation (i.e., post-class 

certification).  Thus, in the event Fowler does so and, upon a properly filed charge, the 

General Counsel finds in her discretion that an investigation or issuance of a complaint is 

warranted (Lab. Code § 1149), nothing in this order shall prevent or preclude such 

investigation or subsequent prosecution from being pursued upon issuance of an unfair 

labor practice complaint.   

 

 
12 Although the NLRB’s decision in this case was abrogated in New Process 

Steel, supra, 560 U.S. 674, the NLRB has continued to cite it in cases involving employer 

interrogations and alleged violations of NLRA Section 8(a)(1) [29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1)].  

(See Intermodal Bridge Transport (2020) 369 NLRB No. 37, *17-18, 79.) 
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ORDER 

For the foregoing reasons, the Board hereby DISMISSES the unfair labor 

practice complaint, without prejudice. 

DATED:  April 7, 2020 

 

Isadore Hall III, Member 

 

Barry D. Broad, Member 

 

Cinthia N. Flores, Member 
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FOWLER PACKING COMPANY, INC. 46 ALRB No. 1 

(Beatriz Aldapa and Elmer Avalos) Case No.  2016-CE-003-VIS 

 

Background 

Charging parties Beatriz Aldapa (Aldapa) and Elmer Avalos (Avalos) filed a wage and 

hour class action lawsuit against respondent Fowler Packing Company, Inc. (Fowler) in 

federal district court.  During discovery, Fowler’s attorneys asked Aldapa and Avalos at 

their depositions about a meeting organized by their attorneys in the class action lawsuit 

and attended by putative class members, including specifically for the names of other 

individuals who attended the meeting.  Aldapa’s and Avalos’ attorneys objected to the 

deposition questions on various grounds, including an alleged privilege under the 

Agricultural Labor Relations Act (ALRA or Act).   

 

On a charge filed by Aldapa and Avalos against Fowler, the General Counsel issued a 

complaint alleging the questions violated Labor Code section 1153, subdivision (a).  The 

administrative law judge (ALJ) rejected Fowler’s defense that the charge was untimely 

filed more than six months after the deposition at which the questions were asked.  The 

ALJ further rejected Fowler’s defenses that the charging parties and General Counsel 

were precluded from prosecuting the charge because it interfered with Fowler’s discovery 

rights in the federal litigation and that the charge was barred by the Supremacy Clause of 

the United States Constitution.  On the merits, the ALJ concluded the underlying meeting 

at issue constituted protected concerted activity, and that Fowler’s questions violated the 

Act under the standard adopted by the National Labor Relations Board in Guess?, Inc. 

(2003) 339 NLRB 432.  Fowler filed exceptions to the ALJ’s decision. 

 

Board Decision 

The Agricultural Labor Relations Board (ALRB or Board) reversed the ALJ’s unfair 

labor practice finding and dismissed the complaint, without prejudice.  The Board agreed 

with the ALJ the charge was not untimely filed based on Fowler’s continuing attempts to 

obtain answers to its deposition questions during subsequent meet and confer efforts with 

Aldapa’s and Avalos’ attorneys.  The Board further found prosecution of the charge was 

not barred by either res judicata or collateral estoppel principles.  Reaching the merits of 

the issue whether Fowler’s deposition questions violated the ALRA, and applying the 

standard prescribed by the NLRB in Guess?, the Board found Fowler’s questions were 

within the scope of permissible discovery and not motivated by any unlawful purpose.  

Balancing the alleged interests of the putative class members in attendance at the meeting 

against Fowler’s interests in asking the questions, the Board concluded the record 

contained insufficient evidence to support a finding Fowler’s interests were outweighed 

by the Labor Code section 1152 rights of the individuals in attendance at the meeting.  

The Board stated its dismissal of the complaint was without prejudice in the event Fowler 

re-asked its questions in the pending federal litigation and a new charge was filed. 



 

*** 

This Case Summary is furnished for information only and is not an official statement of 

the case, or of the ALRB. 
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